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DESCRIBE THE PRESEN"I:MAND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

This nomination is for a complex of 5 brick buildings, situated on a hill overlooking
the small community of Riverside. They are: two churches, a rectory, a school/
convent, and a school. All were built by the parish of St. Mary's between 1877

and 1912,

Riverside is a community of some 800 people, located about % mile north af the
English River, with a portion of lowa Highway 22 (running east-west) as the
main street. Commercial structures are ranged along both sides of this road, with
the residential area rising behind them on the north (oriented south to face the
river). Most of the business blocks are of brick, dating from the late 19th century.
Residential construction is more varied, but consists chiefly of middle-class frame
houses from the late 19th and early 20th centuries. The St. Mary's complex is
situated in the northwest corner of the town, its hilltop location permitting
view of a church steeple for nearly a mile from the highway on either end of the
community.

Within the complex, the newer church (1905) and rectory (1908) are on the
highest ground, with the first church (1877) and convent/school (1889) slightly
below and to the west, and the second school (1912) directly south of the 1877
church. The 1905 church, a Gothic Revival structure with tall central spire,
dominates the group, both physically and architecturally.

The first (1877) church is a simple, front-gable structure, built of hand-
made brick on a stone (now faced with concrete) foundation. The side walls are ar-
ticulated into 5 bays by flat brick pilasters, with a tall lancet window centered
in each bay. The front elevation presents a symmetrical, three-bay composition,
the pointed-arched entrance set within a slightly protruding frontispiece. A
line of. corbelling beneath the eaves provides a slight decorative touch. The
original entrance has been closed, as have the upper portions of the lancet windows.
Glass block. is. inserted in. the lower portions of the windows, and an entrance,
with brick vestihle, has been cut in the fourth bay of the east side.

The convent/school.building was completed in 1889. .It:-is a two story structure
of locally manufactured orange brick, and of the five buildings it is the most
altered.! The roof dis a high hip, with broad deck once: edged with iron cresting.
Side elevations have 6 bays, and the side walls of the south half of the building
protrude slightly beyond those of the rear portion. Originally there:was
a dingled frame cupola at the south end of the roof deck, with high pitched roof
slightly flared at the eaves; and two tall brick chimneys, located toward the
edges of the roof on east and west sides. The main entrance was originally
centered in the three-bay south facade, beneath a shed-roofed porch with spiddle
frieze, supported on very slender turned posts. Presently, the original entrance
and all windows (all with segmental-arched heads) are boarded over, and entrance
is gained via a door dut in the center of the east facade.

The second. church (1905) has exterior walls of dark red,. preseed brick, and
is built in the Gothic Revival style. It has a basilican plan, with sextagonal
apse at the north end, and, on the south, between short corner towers, a central
protrudlng eq;ance pavilion culminating in a belltower and tall spire. The
main and flanking portals feature pointed-arched doorways, with octafoil windows
above the doors proper, set within enframements with triangular tops. Above
the side portals are paired, round-arched windows, surmounted by a small octafoil
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window, all set within a lancet arch. A similar window treatment, but featuring
pairs of trefoil windows, is used also in the nave, the side walls of which

are articulated into five bays by brick buttresses. The ''transepts' (these

are suggested only externally, and are not true structural features) barely
project beyond the walls of the nave, and are surmounted by parapets, with

a triptych of small lancet windows in each gable end.

The roof is supported on a standard truss system: the vaulting in the nave
is non-structural. The main and side altars are et within large pointed arches.
Principal colors used are pink and blue, with much decorative stencilling on
walls and ceiling. *

Directly east of this church is the rectory (1908), constructed of the
same brick as the former building. It is a two story house, with main roof
a modest hip, and intersecting gables (with partial cornice returns) on the
southeast and northwest. Wrapped around the southwest corner (between the two corne
gabled masses) is a one-story porch, with square brick piers, and simple wooden
spindle balustrade. The roof has a shallow triangular pediment above the front
steps. Windows are rectilinear, with flush concrete sills and lintels. There
is a low hipped roof dormer on the west side.

The last building in the complex is the school, built in 1912,with pressed
brick facing the exterior walls, and Bedford limestone foundation. Tt i$ nearly
square in shape, two stories, with a low-pitched hipped roof and projecting rafter
ends beneath the eaves. The principal feature of the school is the full-height,
slightly protruding frontispiece on the east side, which ends in a parapet sur-
mounted by a simple cross. The main entrance is recessed within a large round
arch of stone, above which is a ''palladian'' window at second floor level; and
three smaller windows, grouped within a wide, segmental arch (also of stone)
at cornice level. There is a secondary entrance, within a small, hipped-roof
porch, on the north side. Above this porch is a large round-arched window with
a pair of double hung sash.

*The furnishings - main and side altars, communion rail, stations of the
Cross, pewss are all original. The present decorative scheme has evolved
over the years, with revisions and improvements made in 1919 (including
small circular ceiling paintings) and again in 1937 (most notably the
two murals in oil over the side altars and the twelve apostles on the
intradoses of the nave arches).
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The complex of religious and educational structures at St. Mary's in Riverside

has several characteristics which make it a significant local landmark.

(1) Its hilltop location, overlooking the Riverside community, and the relatively
large scale of the various buildings, give it marked visual prominence. The
church spire can be seen from the highway some distance before the town comes

into clear view, and the complex, or one or more of its members, is visible from

many points in the community.

They are, collectively, perhaps the largest buildings

in the town, and their brick facades further set them off from the surrounding
smaller frame houses which comprise the bulk of Riverside's residential construction.
(2) The five buildings, ranging in age from 102 to 66 years, display architectural
forms which were rather typical of their times in the state.
and lancet windows, of the first church were repeated, in wood and stone as well

as in brick, throughout small-town lowa in the mid 19th century.

The simple form,

The convent/

school was more ambitious (perhaps because it served a dual purpose), but presents
the rectangular shape and decked, hipped roof suggestive of many of lowa's vernac-

ular ftalianate residences of the late 19th century.

The rectory is basically an

early 20th century "hipped box'', to which Colonial Revival influences then in
vogue (the porch pediment, and gables with partial returns) were added. The 1912
school building, with its hipped roof, is suggestive of. the earlier school, but in

a rather more vertical and compact form.

Vestiges of the Richardsonian Romanesque

are seen in the use of the round arch and the small shoulder parapet atop the

entrance frontispiece.

The second church is a nice, and well preserved, example

of Gothic Revival architecture of the late 19th and early 20th centuries, a style

used for many of lowa's Roman Catholic churches of this period.
(3) Together, the five buildings present a remarkable physical
the history of St. Mary's parish in Riverside.

illustration of
In 1872, the Muscatine Western

Railroad began a line north and west from Muscatine, a portion of which was located

along the north side of the lowa River.
1856, was on the south bank.

The small town of Yatton, laid out in
With the arrival of the railroad, Yatton townspeople

began to move across the river, joining others in the establishment of Riverside.
For a few years, Roman Catholics in the town continued to attend rural St. Vincent's
church, first established in 1848 about 3 miles west of Riverside. Soon, however,
the growing German and Irish Catholic population of Riverside determined to build

a church in town. The first Mass in the new church, built of brick made and laid

by H.L. Swift, was said on Palm Sunday, 1877, by St. Mary's first regular priest,

Fr. William Purcell.

This first phase of the parish's history culminated in the

completion of the school in 1889 (during the pastorate of Fr. A.J. Drexler), a

few years after the first rectory (no longer extant).

The school's size was

most likely dictated by its dual use as an educational facility and as a home for
the Franciscan sisters who taught there.

see continuation sheet
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The second phase of St. Mary's was more ambitious than the first, resulting in
three substantial new structures, and reflecting the growth and prosperity of
the parish. As before, the first building was a new church, considerably more
lavish than the earlier church, and located on the crest of the hill where the
old rectory had stood. Contractor for the church was H. Tappendorf of Rock
Island, I1linois. The new rectory and school (built in that order, as had been
the earlier structures), using the same pressed brick on the exterior as the
church, completed the St. Mary's complex by 1912. This second phase came at
the beginning of Fr. Bernard Jacobsmeier's pastorate, which was to last for 40
years (1905-1945). The two remaining older structures were given new uses; the
old church became a parish hall (with a second floor added for an auditorium)
and the school was wholly converted to convent use.

In recent years, the parish has considered removing the old convent; however,
there is a good deal of local sentiment against such action. The most recent
idea concerning this building is the possibility of rehabilitating it for elderly
housing. Finding new uses for the two original buildings (the later three are
fully used now) will be important if the complex of religious and educational
structures on the hill above Riverside is to remain intact. Loss of even one
building would break the visual and historical continuity which gives the

complex its particular character and significance in the community.



Form No. 10-300a
(Hev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

St. Mary's Parish Complex, Riverside, Washington Co., lowa

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER 10 PAGE |

Verbal Boundary Description:
Area includes the following parcels:

Lots 1,2,3,4,5,6, Block 2, Original Town Plat;

Lots 4, 5, 6, Block 10, Original Town Plat;

A tract of land beginning at a point which is five-tenths of a chain west of the
southeast corner of Section Seven, Township Seventy-seven north, Range Six west

of the 5th P.M., running thence west six and forty-two hundredths chains to a
stake; thence north nine and twenth-one hundredths chains to a stone; thence

east six and forty-two hundredths chains to a stake; thence south nine and twenty-
one hundredths to the place of beginning.



